FILED 04-29-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2022AP204-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

DONALD A. WHITAKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH III, THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 19-CT-481

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 dennis@melowskilaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER MR. WHITAKER'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE ARRESTING OFFICER SPOKE TELEPHONICALLY WITH THE JUDGE WHO ISSUED THE WARRANT TO SEIZE A SAMPLE OF MR. WHITAKER'S BLOOD BUT DID SO WITHOUT MAKING ANY WRITTEN OR ELECTRONIC RECORD OF THEIR INTERACTION?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. The trial court concluded that "[t]here is no requirement under this process nor under the way this warrant was obtained for this defendant that required it to be voice recorded or transcribed and I think that the defense puts way too much emphasis or concern on the fact thar the sergeant said when he called the judge he informed him of the incident. . . . So I don't think there was any reason here that this interchange over the telephone that it is required by statute or by the constitutional protections of the Fourth Amendment to be recorded." R45 at 61:12-18 & 63:11-16; D-App. at 110-11.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents questions of law based upon an uncontroverted set of facts which can be addressed by the application of legal principles the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the issue before this Court is premised upon the unique facts of the case and is of such an esoteric nature that publishing this Court's decision would likely have little impact upon future cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Whitaker was charged in Walworth County with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant-1st Offense with Minor

Passenger, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-First Offense with Minor Passenger, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), arising out of an incident which occurred on June 25, 2019. R4 at pp. 1-2.

Mr. Whitaker retained private counsel who entered a plea of Not Guilty on his behalf to both of the foregoing counts, after which counsel for Mr. Whitaker filed a pretrial motion challenging whether certain misinformation contained within the affidavit in support of the search warrant which was issued in this case violated the Franks-Mann¹ rule. R14. The court denied Mr. Whitaker's motion. R31 at 17:6 to 19:14.

Shortly thereafter, Mr. Whitaker substituted his original counsel for Melowski & Singh, LLC. R23; R24; R25; R27; R33. Mr. Whitaker's new attorneys filed a motion challenging whether his Fourth Amendment rights and his concomitant rights under Wis. Stat. § 968.12(3) had been violated when it was discovered that the arresting officer in this case made telephonic contact with the judge who issued the warrant to seize a sample of Mr. Whitaker's blood without that contact having been recorded either electronically or in writing. R35.

An evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Whitaker's motion on October 28, 2020, before the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kristine Drettwan presiding. R45. The State offered the testimony of a single witness, Sergeant Derrick Goetsch of the Village of Fontana Police Department. R45 at pp. 4-37.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court issued an oral decision denying Mr. Whitaker's motion. R45 at 54:13 to 63:21; D-App. at 103-12. The court expressly found that neither the Fourth Amendment nor § 968.12 had been violated based upon the fact that the telephonic exchange between the judge and the officer was likely "not much . . . [j]ust a quick information about what the violation was." R45 at 58:10-11.

Subsequent to the court's decision, Mr. Whitaker changed his plea to one of No Contest upon which he was found guilty and sentenced on February 3, 2022. R54.

¹Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978); State v. Mann, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985).

Case 2022AP000204 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-29-2022 Page 9 of 23

It is from the adverse decision of the lower court that Mr. Whitaker appeals to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on February 9, 2022. R59.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 25, 2019, Mr. Whitaker was stopped and detained in the Village of Fontana, Walworth County, by Sergeant Derrick Goetsch of the Fontana Police Department for having passengers seated in the boat he was transporting at the rear of his vehicle. R45 at 5:15 to 6:10s.

After being detained, Sgt. Goetsch observed an odor of intoxicants emanating from Mr. Whitaker's breath and that he had red and glassy eyes. R45 at 8:8-10. Based upon these observations, Sgt. Goetsch had Mr. Whitaker submit to a battery of field sobriety tests. R45 at 9:24 to 10:1. Upon completion of the field sobriety tests, Mr. Whitaker was arrested for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). R45 at 10:14-16.

Subsequent to his arrest, Sgt. Goetsch asked Mr. Whitaker to submit to an implied consent test of his blood. R4 at p.3. Mr. Whitaker declined to submit to the requested test. *Id.* Sgt. Goetsch then sought a warrant to obtain a sample of Mr. Whitaker's blood and executed an affidavit in support thereof. R16. The affidavit contained several egregious and incontrovertible misstatements of fact, including the officer's misrepresentation that Mr. Whitaker had a prior conviction for an operating while intoxicated offense (he did not); that he was subject to operating only those vehicles equipped with an ignition interlock device (he was not); and that he was restricted to operating a motor vehicle with no more than a .02 blood alcohol level (he was not). R45 at 28:5-12; 29:1-10; 29:11-19. In fact, not a single one of those allegations was true. This was Mr. Whitaker's **first-ever OWI arrest** and the only reason it was a criminal offense was the presence of the minor passenger in the boat being towed. Nevertheless, the warrant application was ultimately granted.

After completing his affidavit, Sgt. Goetsch made telephonic contact with Judge David M. Reddy. R45 at 12:10-13; 16:3-5. At the evidentiary hearing held on Mr. Whitaker's motion challenging the sufficiency of the warrant application process, Sgt. Goetsch testified that he made this contact to "inform[] him of the

incident." R45 at 31:3-5. When pressed on cross-examination whether he recalled what he told Judge Reddy during their telephonic communication, Sgt. Goetsch admitted that he could "[n]ot specifically" recall. R45 at 31:15-18. Counsel then asked Sgt. Goetsch whether "it would not be unusual in this situation to give [the judge] a little bit of a back story about [this] incident," to which Sgt. Goetsch replied, "Most of the time it's just going to be a quick synopsis of this is what it's involved and the impairment of the juvenile [sic]." R45 at 31:19-24.

Upon further examination, Sgt. Goetsch conceded that on some occasions, "the judge wants to clarify something" such as "want[ing] a little bit more information about a particular fact that [he has] alleged in the affidavit; . . ." R45 at 32:14-22. Sgt. Goetsch then proffered that he did not "remember [Judge Reddy] asking a single question as far as any of the other detailed information." R45 at 33:12-13.

Based upon Sgt. Goetsch's admission that judges do, on occasion, request additional information regarding "particular fact[s]...alleged in the affidavit" and that he could "not specifically" recall whether Judge Reddy did so in this case, Mr. Whitaker moved to suppress the blood test result on the ground that communications with warrant-issuing magistrates, no matter how seemingly innocuous, must be recorded. R45 at 45:17 to 48:9. The court denied Mr. Whitaker's motion, but found that Sgt. Goetsch "doesn't recall what was said specifically but that it was not much. Just a quick information about what the violation was. He doesn't believe anything else was discussed." R45 at 58:8-12.

Mr. Whitaker now appeals from the circuit court's adverse decision to this Court, alleging that the Fourth Amendment does not permit courts simply to accept the officer's non-specific recollections about what conversations may have occurred between the officer and a warrant-issuing magistrate during the application process. Mr. Whitaker argues below that permitting undisciplined practices such as these sets a dangerous precedent for future cases.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The question presented to this Court relates to whether Mr. Whitaker's Fourth Amendment rights were violated when the arresting officer in the instant case spoke telephonically with the judge who issued the warrant to seize a sample

Case 2022AP000204 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-29-2022 Page 11 of 23

of Mr. Whitaker's blood but did so without having any electronic or written record of that conversation documented. This is a question of law based upon an undisputed set of facts, and therefore, merits *de novo* review by this Court. *State v. Drogsvold*, 104 Wis. 2d 247, 311 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1981).

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED.

The case at bar presents two underlying questions for this Court. The first of these is whether Mr. Whitaker's Fourth Amendment rights were violated when the judge who issued the warrant in this case spoke telephonically with the law enforcement officer who executed the affidavit in support of the petition for the warrant without having the exchange between the two recorded either electronically or in writing. The second question concerns whether § 968.12 was violated when a record of the telephonic portion of the warrant application was not made. Each of these issues is examined in turn below.

II. THE FAILURE EITHER TO MAKE AN ELECTRONIC RECORDING OR A WRITTEN RECORD OF THE TELEPHONIC PORTION OF THE APPLICATION FOR A WARRANT IN THE INSTANT CASE VIOLATES THE FOURTH AMENDMENT'S WARRANT REQUIREMENT AND WIS. STAT. § 968.12.

A. The Fourth Amendment in General.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. The Fourth Amendment is enforceable against the states through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964).

Case 2022AP000204 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-29-2022 Page 12 of 23

With respect to the breadth and importance of the protections afforded by the Fourth Amendment, the U.S. Supreme Court has warned:

It may be that it is the obnoxious thing in its mildest and least repulsive form; but illegitimate and unconstitutional practices get their first footing in that way, namely, by silent approaches and slight deviations from legal modes of procedure. This can only be obviated by adhering to the rule that constitutional provisions for the security of person and property **should be liberally construed**. A close and literal construction deprives them of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right, as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon.

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 449 (1971)(emphasis added), quoting Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 635 (1886).

The Wisconsin Constitution affords protection which is coextensive with the Federal Constitution. Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. Wisconsin courts interpret the protections granted by Article I, § 11 of Wisconsin Constitution identically to those under the Fourth Amendment as defined by the United States Supreme Court. *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, ¶ 21, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

B. Seizures by Warrant.

1. Statement of the Law.

Among the most fundamental constitutional requirements relating to the process for obtaining a warrant is that a warrant only be issued by a "neutral and detached magistrate." *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 449 (1971); *United States v. United States Dist. Court*, 407 U.S. 297, 316 (1972); *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 356 (1967). The U.S. Constitution requires that "inferences of probable cause be drawn by 'a neutral and detached magistrate" before a search warrant may issue. *Shadwick v. City of Tampa*, 407 U.S. 345, 350 (1972).

The seminal case in Wisconsin which examines the necessity of strict compliance with the Fourth Amendment when it comes to the issuance of a warrant is *State v. Tye*, 2001 WI 124, 248 Wis. 2d 530, 636 N.W.2d 473. In *Tye*, the issue before the Wisconsin Supreme Court was whether evidence seized pursuant to a warrant which was not supported by an affidavit made under "Oath or Affirmation" must be suppressed. *Id.* ¶ 3. More specifically, Mr. Tye was charged with drug

Case 2022AP000204 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-29-2022 Page 13 of 23

possession when law enforcement officers discovered heroin in his residence after searching his home pursuant to a warrant issued by the Racine County Circuit Court. *Id.* \P 6.

The investigator who presented his affidavit to the circuit court for purposes of obtaining the warrant "failed, . . . , to sign and swear to the truth of the affidavit . . . and failed to give sworn testimony attesting to the accuracy of the statements in the affidavit." Id. ¶ 5. This failure was discovered after the warrant had been executed and, in an effort to remedy the problem, the investigator swore out a second affidavit and in the second affidavit, averred "that the contents of the initial affidavit were true." Id. ¶ 7. Despite this second affidavit, the circuit court in which Mr. Tye's Fourth Amendment challenge was initially mounted suppressed the evidence seized pursuant to the unsworn affidavit. Id. ¶ 2.

On appeal, the State mounted a four-pronged attack which included the following arguments: (1) Wis. Stat. § 968.22 allowed for admission of the evidence seized during the search because it provided that evidence should not be suppressed for "technical irregularities" in a warrant if the substantial rights of the accused are not affected; (2) the second affidavit remedied the defect in the first affidavit; (3) *State v. Nicholson*, 174 Wis. 2d 542, 497 N.W.2d 791 (Ct. App. 1993), stood for the proposition that an error in a warrant does not require suppression of the evidence; and (4) the drug evidence should be admitted pursuant to the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule. *Id.* ¶ 15.

In rejecting every one of the State's arguments, the *Tye* court first observed that the Wisconsin Supreme Court "has long recognized an oath or affirmation as an essential prerequisite to obtaining a valid search warrant under the constitution." *Id.* ¶ 13, citing *State v. Baltes*, 183 Wis. 545, 198 N.W. 282 (1924); *Walberg v. State*, 73 Wis. 2d 448, 455, 243 N.W.2d 190 (1976); *State ex rel. Pflanz v. County Court*, 36 Wis. 2d 550, 561, 153 N.W.2d 559 (1967); *Kraus v. State*, 226 Wis. 383, 385, 276 N.W. 303 (1937); *Glodowski v. State*, 196 Wis. 265, 268, 220 N.W. 227 (1928); *Bergeman v. State*, 189 Wis. 615, 617, 208 N.W. 470 (1926); *Hansen v. State*, 188 Wis. 266, 268, 205 N.W. 813 (1925); *State v. Blumenstein*, 186 Wis. 428, 430, 202 N.W. 684 (1925).

With respect to the State's argument that the need for an oath or affirmation is a "mere formality" which, if not made, does not affect "the substantial rights of the defendant," the *Tye* court concluded that "[a]n oath is a matter of substance, not form, and it is an essential component of the Fourth Amendment and legal

proceedings." Id. ¶ 19. The Tye court further commented that "[a]n oath or affirmation to support a search warrant reminds both the investigator seeking the search warrant and the magistrate issuing it of the importance and solemnity of the process involved. An oath or affirmation protects the target of the search from impermissible state action by creating liability for perjury or false swearing" Id.

The *Tye* court then rejected the State's second argument that the subsequently executed affidavit cured the defects in the first affidavit as "eviscerate[ing] the oath or affirmation requirement." Id. ¶ 21. The court observed that "[a]n after-the-fact oath or affirmation disregards the historical importance of the oath or affirmation as the basis upon which a neutral magistrate issues a warrant." Id.

Regarding the State's position that *Nicholson*, 174 Wis. 2d 54, saved the evidence obtained during the search of Tye's premises from suppression because it was an "unintended mistake," the *Tye* court noted that even though the warrant in the *Nicholson* case had the wrong address written on it, the officers still searched the correct premises because it had been described with sufficient particularity, and therefore, the defect was a technical irregularity as opposed to a failure of the required constitutional process. *Id.* \P 23.

In rejecting the State's final position, that the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule saved the ill-gotten evidence from suppression, the *Tye* court held that it would not extend that exception to a circumstance in which a warrant was issued on the basis of an unsworn statement. *Id.* \P 24. This last point is of particular relevance to Mr. Whitaker's case.

2. Application of the Law to the Facts.

Frankly, there is no constitutionally-compliant universe in which citizens should have to rely on a law enforcement officer's representations that nothing substantive was discussed between the officer and a judge during an unrecorded conversation at the time the officer applied for the warrant. Nevertheless, that is *precisely* what is being requested in the instant matter.

It is undisputed that this case presents a factual circumstance in which the officer who applied for the warrant to seize a sample of Mr. Whitaker's blood (1) admitted he had telephonic contact with the issuing judge and (2) conceded that he could "not specifically" recall what was discussed between the two of them, but (3) thought it was "not much . . . [j]ust a quick information about what the violation was."

Case 2022AP000204 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-29-2022 Page 15 of 23

Mr. Whitaker must rhetorically ask: Why should we accept Sgt. Goetsch's averment that his discussion with Judge Reddy was "not much"? Where is there any clause in the Fourth Amendment which states that when there is an acknowledged communication between a law enforcement officer and a warrant-issuing magistrate above-and-beyond the officer's affidavit one should simply assume, accept, or acquiesce that no substantive information affecting the probable cause determination was exchanged? If ever there was a "slippery slope" for potential abuse, permitting such conversations beyond the four corners of an affidavit to go unrecorded provides a torrent of water to muddy that very slope.

Part of the reason it is so important for there to be a record of the conversation which occurred between Sgt. Goetsch and Judge Reddy is because the absence of any record thwarts Mr. Whitaker's ability to ascertain whether any of the information which Sgt. Goetsch cannot "specifically" recall impacted upon the probable cause determination undertaken by the judge. This is especially true given the numerous demonstrably false misstatements contained in the Goetsch affidavit. Although Sgt. Goetsch characterized these misstatements as innocent mistakes, who is to say that he did not double down on those misstatements to the judge during their "off the record" conversation? For example, it is hardly inconceivable that the judge may have questioned (given the false allegation that Mr. Whitaker was subject to a .02 restriction) if his driver record confirmed the existence of three prior OWI convictions? Given how much lower the "probable cause bar" is for individuals subject to such a restriction, this is hardly a stretch. Under these circumstances, Mr. Whitaker will never be in a position to challenge the warrant on Tye, probable cause, additional Franks-Mann, etc., grounds because he simply does not know what information was exchanged between the judge and the officer. constitutionally intolerable, especially given that Sgt. Goetsch conceded that he could "[n]ot specifically" recall the conversation and that "it would not be unusual in this situation to give [the judge] a little bit of a back story about [this] incident."

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