FILED 05-31-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

APPEAL NO. 2022AP000204-CR CIRCUIT COURT NO. 2019CT481

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONALD A. WHITAKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH III

> Zeke S. Wiedenfeld District Attorney for Walworth County, Wisconsin

By: J.J. Crawford Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant State Bar No. 1113067

ADDRESS:

P.O. Box 1001 Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 741-7198

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

ARGUMENT

Whitaker now argues that the drawing of his blood violated his constitutional rights. As the State will demonstrate, however, the drawing of Whitaker's blood under the facts of this case was constitutionally valid.

I. Drawing Whitaker's Blood Pursuant To His Arrest For Drunk Driving Was Constitutionally Valid And Complied With Wis. Stat. § 968.12(2).

A. Standard Of Review.

When a suppression motion is reviewed, the circuit court's finding of fact will be sustained unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Roberts*, 196 Wis. 2d 445, 452, 538 N.W.2d 825, 828 (Ct. App. 1995). However, whether a government search passes constitutional muster is a question of law subject to de novo review. *Id.* "Suppression is only required when evidence has been obtained in violation of a defendant's constitutional rights or if a

statute specifically provides for the suppression remedy." State v. Raflik, 2001 WI 129, ¶ 15, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W.2d 690 (citation omitted). There is no statutory provision for suppression as a remedy for failure to comply with Wis. Stat. § 968.12, which governs the issuance of search warrants. Therefore, the court must only consider whether the alleged failure to comply with the statutory procedure violated a constitutional right. Raflik, 248 Wis. 2d 593, ¶ 15, 636 N.W.2d 690.

B. The Procedure Used To Obtain The Search Warrant For Whitaker's Blood Was Proper.

Both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution provide that no warrant shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation. This is codified in the Wisconsin statues under Wis. Stat. §968.12(1) & (2), which provides:

Search warrant. (1) Description and issuance. A search warrant is an order signed by a judge directing a law enforcement officer to conduct a search of a designated person, a designated object or a designated place for the purpose of seizing designated property or kinds of property. A judge shall issue a search warrant if probable cause is shown.

(2) Warrant upon affidavit. A search warrant may be based upon sworn complaint or affidavit, or testimony recorded by a phonographic reporter or under sub. (3) (d), **showing probable cause therefore.** The complaint, affidavit or testimony may be upon information and belief. The person requesting the warrant may swear to the complaint

or affidavit before a notarial officer authorized under ch. 140 to take acknowledgments or before a judge, or a judge may place a person under oath via telephone, radio, or other means of electronic communication, without the requirement face-to-face contact, to of swear to the complaint or affidavit. The judge shall indicate on the search warrant that the person so swore to the complaint or affidavit.

[Emphasis Added].

In this case, after Judge Reddy reviewed the search warrant and affidavit, which had been emailed to him, he had Sergeant Goetsch swear to the fact that everything in the search warrant was true and accurate over the telephone. Whitaker now appears to argue that there is no legislative mandate in the state of Wisconsin that allows a affidavit person to swear to а search warrant telephonically without being recorded. Whitaker, however, is mistaken.

Wis. Stats. §§ 968.12 (2), 137.19, 990.01(24) and 990.01(38) give the court authority to electronically swear out a search warrant affidavit. Wis. Stat. § 137.19 provides:

> Notarization and acknowledgement. If a law requires a signature or record to be notarized, acknowledged, verified, or made under oath, the requirement is satisfied if the electronic signature of the person authorized to administer the oath or to make the notarization, acknowledgment, or verification, together with all other information required to be included by other applicable law, is attached to or logically associated with the signature or record.

Wis. Stat. § 137.12 states that this subchapter, except as otherwise provided, applies to electronic records and electronic signatures relating to a transaction. Wis. Stat. § 137.11(15) defines a transaction as "an action or set of actions occurring between 2 or more persons relating to the conduct of business, commercial, or governmental affairs." The statute further lists exceptions to the applicability to Wis. Stat. § 137.12, none of which apply to a criminal search warrant. Wis. Stat. § 137.21 also states that "a record or signature may not be excluded as evidence solely because it is in electronic form."

Wis. Stat. § 990.01(24) further provides in relevant part that "in actions and proceedings in the courts, a person may take an oath or affirmation in communication with the administering officer by telephone or audiovisual means." Wis. Stat. § 990.01(38) also states:

If the signature of any person is required by law it shall always be the handwriting of such person or, if the person is unable to write, the person's mark or the person's name written by some other person at the person's request and in the person's presence, or, subject to any applicable requirements under subch. II of ch. 137, the electronic signature of the person.

Therefore, Wis. Stat. § 968.12 (2), 137.19, 990.01(24) and 990.01(38) give the court authority to swear out a search warrant affidavit by the means used in this case.

In addition, contrary to Whitaker's assertion, simply because a telephone was used during the warrant procedure does not automatically mean that any conversation with the Judge must be recorded. Subsection (2) of Wis. Stat. § 968.12 has no such requirement regardless of whether the search warrant was sworn to and signed in the physical presence of a Judge, or as in this case, over the telephone. Instead, memorializing probable cause for a search warrant can be accomplished through a sworn complaint or affidavit - as was done in this case, testimony recorded by a phonographic reporter, or by recording the telephone sworn testimony supporting the warrant. See Wis. Stat. § 968.12(2) and (3)(d). These three means of recording probable cause all serve to preserve the policies of judicial integrity and the right to judicial review. State v. Raflik, 2001 WI 129, ¶ 21, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W.2d 690.

In this case, the search warrant affidavit is the actual document that was reviewed by the Judge to find probable cause for the search of Whitaker's blood, complying with the procedures in Wis. Stat. § 968.12(2). Therefore, because the procedure used to obtain the search warrant for Whitaker's blood complied with both the

Page 18 of 30

constitutional and statutory requirements for obtaining a warrant, Whitaker's appeal must be denied.

C. Even If The Procedure Used In This Case Did Not Comply Wis. Stat. § 968.12, Any Perceived Error Was Procedural.

Even if this Court should find that the procedure utilized in obtaining the search warrant for Whitaker's blood failed to comply with Wis. Stat. § 968.12; under the circumstances on this case, any perceived error in swearing out the search warrant affidavit was ministerial.

A violation of a Wisconsin statute relating to search warrants does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that a search that was conducted is unreasonable. See, e.g., State v. Meier, 60 Wis. 2d 452, 459-60, 210 N.W.2d 685 (1973) (concluding that any error as to the return of the search warrant violating Wis. Stat. § 968.17 did not prejudice the rights of the defendant and therefore did not affect the validity of the search). Case law and Wis. Stat. § 968.22 provide that "evidence must not be suppressed for a mere statutory violation or a technical irregularity of search warrant procedure unless the violation or irregularity is material or the violation or irregularity has prejudiced the defendant or affected the defendant's substantial rights." State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 126, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 611 (Prosser, J., concurring). N.W.2d

"Conversely, if a statutory violation or statutory irregularity of search warrant procedure is material or if the violation or irregularity has prejudiced the defendant or affected the defendant's substantial rights, the court has implicit, if not explicit, statutory authority to suppress the tainted evidence." *Id.* (citing § 968.22). As stated, the search warrant affidavit providing probable cause for the issuance of the warrant was made under oath before a judge. Under these circumstances, whether or not the procedure used in reviewing the search warrant and administering that oath was in accordance with the statutes does not affect Whitaker's substantial rights. Accordingly, the evidence seized from the search warrant is not subject to suppression.

The State is unaware of any Wisconsin case law addressing the specific issue raised in this case, however, case law in other jurisdictions support the state's position. Case law from those jurisdictions, although not precedent, is helpful in construing and applying § 968.12, and may be persuasive. *See State ex rel. E.R. v. Flynn*, 88 Wis. 2d 37, 44-46, 276 N.W.2d 313 (Ct. App. 1979).

In State v. Andries, 297 N.W.2d 124 (Minn. 1980) the Minnesota Supreme Court upheld the validity of a search warrant "authorized over the telephone by a judge who fully

complied with the requirements of the relevant statutes except that he did not personally sign the warrant but instead delegated that ministerial act to the applicant." Andries, 297 N.W.2d at 125. In that case, a county attorney with probable cause to believe that marijuana would be found certain residence, at а sought telephone authorization for a search warrant from a judge located eighty-five miles away. Id. The judge convened a three-way conference call with the county attorney and the deputy sheriff involved in the case, during which the deputy sheriff signed and read an affidavit prepared by the county attorney, and read a proposed warrant. Id. The judge determined there was probable cause upon which to base a search warrant, and "delegated to the deputy the task of signing the judge's name to the warrant." Id. In upholding the warrant's validity despite the absence of a statute explicitly authorizing telephonic search warrants, the court in Andries cautioned that it did "not mean to sanction the indiscriminate use of such a procedure," but noted that under the circumstances of that case "there was a demonstrated need for such a warrant, the procedures specified in the statute were substantially followed, and a record was made which was thereafter available for use by

defendant in challenging the issuance of the warrant." Andries, 297 N.W.2d at 125-26.

In People v. Snyder, 449 N.W.2d 703 (Mich. App. 1990), the officer contacted the judge by telephone at home and faxed a copy of the unsigned warrant documents to the judge's home. Id. at 704. At the judge's instruction over the telephone, the officer raised his right hand and swore to the affidavit. Id. The officer then signed the affidavit and faxed a copy of the signed affidavit to the judge, who then signed the warrant and faxed a copy to the officer. Id. Pursuant to the judge's instruction, the officer then stamped the judge's signature onto the original warrant form and added his own initials. Id. The court ruled that it did not violate the Fourth Amendment for a police officer to fax a search warrant affidavit to a judge and then swear to it over the telephone. The court held that "[t]he telephone link by which the judge and the officer communicated creates enough of a presence to satisfy" the statutory and Fourth Amendment purposes. Id. at 706.

In State v. Turner, 558 F.2d 46 (2nd Cir. 1977), the 2^{nd} Circuit eloquently explained why swearing an oath over the telephone comports with the Fourth Amendment:

In a ritualistic sense, it may be that an oath taken over the telephone appears less formal or less solemn than one taken in the physical

Page 22 of 30

presence of the oath taker. The constitutionality of oaths does not depend, however, on such purely ritualistic considerations. In every meaningful sense, [the officers on the telephone] were under oath. We hold that search warrant application procedures can constitutionally be brought into line with twentieth century technology.

Id. at 558 F.2d 46, 50. See also Commonwealth v. Long, 786 A.2d 237 (Penn. 2001) (In securing a search warrant, oath was properly administered by telephone to officer.).

The Supreme Court of Idaho also approved the officer signing the judge's signature on a search warrant, noting that as a ministerial function a judge could direct a third person to sign the warrant on the judge's behalf. *State v. Zueger*, 152 P.3d 8, 11 (Idaho, 2007).

The controlling Wisconsin law and persuasive case law from other jurisdictions demonstrates that the procedures utilized in this case did not affect Whitaker's substantial rights, therefore, the evidence seized from the search warrant is not subject to suppression.

In addition, *Raflik*, 248 Wis. 2d 593, is instructive and supports the State's view of this case.

In *Raflik*, an officer and an assistant district attorney called in a telephonic search warrant application and the judge took testimony over the phone, but the call was mistakenly not recorded. *Id.*, ¶¶ 5-6. The officer, assistant district attorney and the judge got together the

next day and reconstructed the officer's testimony. Id., ¶¶ 7-10. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the warrant process fulfilled all the requirements of the Fourth Amendment. The reconstruction of the warrant application adequately protected Raflik's right to judicial review. Id., ¶ 21. "The essential thing is that proof be reduced to permanent form and made a part of the record, which may be transmitted to the reviewing court." Glodowski v. State, 196 Wis. 265, 272, 220 N.W. 227 (1928), quoted in Raflik, 248 Wis. 2d 593, ¶ 28, 636 N.W.2d 690.

Here, as in *Raflik*, the procedure used preserves the policies of judicial integrity and the right to judicial review. *Raflik*, 248 Wis. 2d 593, \P 21, 636 N.W.2d 690. The record of the proceeding in this case is the actual documents that were reviewed by the Judge. There is no prejudicial or constitutional violation requiring suppression.²

²Whitaker also appears to argue that the search warrant in this case was not issued by a neutral, detached magistrate. Whitaker, however, fails to cite any actual facts or authority to support his position. Instead, the only evidence introduced at the hearing was that Judge Reddy simply reviewed the search warrant affidavit, and never asked Sergeant Goetsch any questions pertaining to the search warrant affidavit before finding it contained probable cause (R45:33). Whitaker fails to state how the facts in this case equate to a finding that Judge Reddy was not a neutral, detached magistrate; nor is the State aware of any. Arguments unsupported by references to either legal authority or facts should not be considered by this court. State v. Verhagen, 2013 WI App 16, ¶ 38, 346 Wis. 2d 196, 827 N.W.2d 891. Because Whitaker has not provided either a factual or legal basis for his claim, this claim should be denied.

II. If This Court Finds That The Procedure Employed In This Case To Swear Out The Affidavit Was Improper And Not Procedural, The Good Faith Exception To The Exclusionary Rule Denies Whitaker Relief.

In United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984) the United States Supreme Court recognized an objective good faith exception to the exclusionary rule that normally applies to evidence obtained as a result of a violation of the Fourth Amendment. State v. Marguardt, 2005 WI 157, ¶ 24, 286 Wis. 2d 204, 705 N.W.2d 878.

In State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶¶ 3, 74, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625, the Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted an objective good faith exception to the exclusionary rule that normally applies to evidence obtained as a result of a violation of Wis. Const. art. I, § 11.

Explaining the good faith exceptions to the respective exclusionary rules, the court said in *Marquardt*, 286 Wis. 2d 204, ¶¶ 24-26:

Under Leon, evidence seized by officers "reasonably relying on a warrant issued by a detached and will neutral magistrate" not necessarily be suppressed. Leon, 468 U.S. at 913. "In the ordinary case," the Court in Leon explained, "an expected to question officer cannot be the magistrate's probable-cause determination or his judgment that the form of the warrant is technically sufficient." Id. at 921.

At the same time, the Court in *Leon* described four sets of circumstances under which the good faith exception does not apply:

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